2007

Kim Black v. Jon Cornell Black : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to Section 78A-4-103(2)(h), UTAH CODE ANN. (2008).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

1. Is it proper for a court to retroactively modify an order for spousal support under Utah Code section 78-45-9.3(4) to the date of notice of the petition to modify if that notice did not provide notice of the section 30-3-5(10) cohabitation claim on which the court based its determination?

1. Standard of Review

The Court of Appeals will review a trial court's statutory interpretation under a correction of error standard. *Brinkerhoff v. Brinkerhoff*, 945 P.2d 113, 115 (Utah App. 1997); *Ball v. Peterson*, 912 P.2d 1006, 1009 (Utah App. 1996).

Appellant preserved the issue for appeal by objecting to the Motion to Amend Petition (R.346-350) as well as moving to strike the Amended Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce, which added a cohabitation claim to the Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce. (R. 356-357.) The Motion to Strike was denied by the trial court. (R. 533.)

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

There are no constitutional provisions at issue in this case.

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

UTAH CODE ANN. § 30-3-5(3), (10) (West 2004), in relevant part:

Disposition of property -- Maintenance and health care of parties and children --
Division of debts -- Court to have continuing jurisdiction -- Custody and parent-
time -- Determination of alimony -- Nonmeritorious petition for modification.

. . . .

(3) The court has continuing jurisdiction to make subsequent changes or new orders for the custody of the children and their support, maintenance, health, and dental care, and for distribution of the property and obligations for debts as is reasonable and necessary.

. . . .

(10) Any order of the court that a party pay alimony to a former spouse terminates upon establishment by the party paying alimony that the former spouse is cohabitating with another person.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-45-9.3(4) (West 2004) (now renumbered and amended as 78B-12-112 (2008)) provides in relevant part:

(4) A child or spousal support payment under a child support order may be modified with respect to any period during which a modification is pending, but only from the date of service of the pleading on the obligee, if the obligor is the petitioner, or on the obligor, if the obligee is the petitioner.

RULES PROVISION

There are no Rules Provision.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Based on a modification of the statute limiting alimony to a period of time not longer than the length of the marriage, the Respondent sought termination of the alimony award. Four years later, Respondent, over Petitioner's objection, was allowed to amend his Petition for Modification to include a claim of cohabitation for termination of the alimony award. The Trial Court was only presented evidence of the cohabitation issue at trial and ruled for Respondent and terminated the alimony award but in doing this, terminated the alimony back to the date of the service of the original Petition for Modification. It is the legal issue as to when the alimony termination date should have been made which is the basis of this appeal.

RELEVANT FACTS

Jon Black (Respondent) and Kim Black (Petitioner) were divorced on July 3, 1989. (R. 31). On June 7, 2001, Jon Black served on Kim Black a Petition for Modification for the termination of the alimony based on a change in the statute which limited alimony to a period of time to be no greater than the length of the parties' marriage. (R. 76-80). Four years later, in June 2005, Jon Black filed an Amended Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce, claiming cohabitation by Kim Black (R. 328-338), which Amended Petition was opposed (R. 346-350) and requested to be stricken (R. 356-357), which was denied by the trial court (R. 358-360 & 533). After trial in this matter, the court determined that Kim Black had in fact cohabitated and terminated the alimony. (R. 748) The court held that the alimony order should be modified retroactively, and used the date of the original

service of the Petition for Modification, June 2001, rather than either the date of the Amended Petition, June 2005 (when the cohabitation claim was added), (R. 748), or the date of establishing the cohabitation, which would have been the date of the order terminating alimony, November 30, 2007 (R. 749).

The original petition had been certified as ready for trial on April 1, 2003 (R. 232-233), but after the pretrial conference, respondent did nothing until February 15, 2005 to move the case along (R. 250-251). A bench trial was scheduled (R. 257-258) which was thereafter continued by respondent. It was after this scheduled trial that Jon Black filed his amended petition. Respondent certified the matter as ready for trial September 22, 2006 (R. 542-544) but thereafter again continued the case. Respondent again certified the case ready for trial August 3, 2007 (R. 703-705) with the case finally being tried November 26-27, 2007.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Based on the language of Utah Code section 30-3-5(10), it would be inappropriate to retroactively modify an alimony order based on cohabitation. That section provides, “[a]ny order of the court that a party pay alimony to a former spouse terminates upon establishment by the party paying alimony that the former spouse is cohabitating with another person.” *Id.* To retroactively modify an order for spousal support after it has been terminated by cohabitation, as occurred in this case, is not reasonable. Furthermore, the legislature surely could

not have intended the harsh results that would occur should alimony be altogether terminated retroactively.

Even if it is consistent with Utah Code section 30-3-5(10) to retroactively modify alimony orders based on cohabitation, such relation back should not extend further than when notice of the cohabitation claim was received by the alimony recipient. Attempting to amend a petition to modify a divorce decree by adding a cohabitation claim, as Respondent did here, is an end run around the plain language of 30-3-5(10), which provides for termination of the alimony upon establishment of cohabitation, and not modification of the alimony order.

ARGUMENT

I. THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF UTAH CODE SECTION 30-3-5(10) DOES NOT ALLOW FOR RETROACTIVE MODIFICATION OF ALIMONY AWARDS BASED ON COHABITATION.

A. An Alimony Order Terminates upon the Establishment of Cohabitation.

Utah Code section 30-3-5(10) provides, “[a]ny order of the court that a party pay alimony to a former spouse terminates *upon establishment* by the party paying alimony that the former spouse is cohabitating with another person.” UTAH CODE ANN. § 30-3-5(10) (West 2004) (emphasis added). Therefore, until the party paying alimony establishes that the former spouse is cohabitating, the order to pay alimony continues in force. Termination of alimony is triggered not by cohabitation, but by the establishment of cohabitation.

Section 30-3-5(10) provides that the alimony order “terminates” upon establishment of cohabitation. The court below held that John Black “met the burden to establish [Kim Black’s] co-habitation and therefore alimony is terminated” (R. 748). After the judge ordered the alimony to be terminated, he then ordered the alimony to be retroactively modified to June of 2001, when the petition to modify was filed (R. 748). Utah Code section 30-3-5(10) clearly provides that the alimony order “*terminates* upon establishment” of cohabitation, and not that a court has discretion to *modify* an alimony order upon establishment of cohabitation (emphasis added). Although courts are given broad discretion in awarding alimony and in modifying such orders, *Diener v. Diener*, 2004 UT App 314, ¶ 4, 98 P.3d 1178, *see also* UTAH CODE ANN. § 30-3-5(3), the court should not have discretion to modify orders where the statute clearly provides for termination upon establishment of cohabitation. The alimony should have been terminated November 30, 2007 which is the date of establishment of cohabitation.

B. Utah Code section 78-45-9.3(4), which authorizes retroactive modification of child support and alimony orders, does not apply to alimony orders that have been terminated by establishing cohabitation under section 30-3-5(10).

At the time of the ruling of the lower court, Utah Code section 78-45-9.3(4) (West 2004) (now renumbered and amended at 78B-12-112 (2008)) was in effect, authorizing retroactive modification of child support and alimony orders “[a] child or spousal support payment under a child support order may be modified with respect to any period during which a modification is pending, but only from

the date of service of the pleading on the obligee” It is unlikely that the legislature intended this section to apply to alimony orders that had already been terminated pursuant to section 30-3-5(10), as terminated orders cannot be modified.

Furthermore, it is unlikely that the legislature intended the harsh consequences that would prevail if 78-45-9.3(4) applied to cohabitants whose alimony had been terminated under 30-3-5(10). According to Utah Code section 78-45-9.3(4), “[o]nce the tribunal determines that a modification is appropriate, the tribunal shall order a judgment to be entered for any difference in the original order and the modified amount for the period from the service of the pleading until the final order of modification is entered.” Because the “modified amount” will always be zero if cohabitation is established, retroactive modification of alimony orders would create a significant financial hardship on alimony recipients, as recipients would have to reimburse the obligor for all payments since the date of the service of the modification pleading. The financial hardship is especially salient in cases where, as here, considerable time has passed since the date of the service of the modification pleading.¹ It is more likely that the legislature intended that alimony payments simply be terminated upon establishment of cohabitation, as section 30-3-5(10) provides, than that alimony recipients be liable for a large lump-sum payment of claims of when cohabitation allegedly

¹ Almost six and one-half years have passed between the date that notice of the modification pleading was given and the court’s retroactive modification order. (R. 748).

commenced. The respondent is the party who continually continued the matter and it should not be to petitioner's detriment the financial hardship that would occur to her under the court's ruling and the respondent's lack of moving the case forward.

Utah Code section 78-45-9.3(4) should not be interpreted broadly, to include the termination of alimony orders based on cohabitation under section 30-3-5(10). In *Wall v. Wall*, the court stated that it is "clear that as a general rule . . . support orders are 'not subject to retroactive modification.'" 2007 UT App 61, ¶ 20, 157 P.3d 341, (quoting Utah Code Ann. § 78-45-9.3(3)(c)).

II. EVEN IF RETROACTIVE MODIFICATION OF ALIMONY AWARDS TERMINATED PURSUANT TO SECTION 30-3-5(10) IS PROPER, THE MODIFICATION SHOULD NOT RELATE BACK TO A DATE PREVIOUS TO THE RECEIPT OF NOTICE OF THE COHABITATION CLAIM BY THE ALLEGED COHABITANT.

In June of 2001, Jon Black filed a Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce (R. 76-80). That petition was based on the allegation that a "substantial and material change in circumstances" had occurred (R. 77). In June 2005, Jon Black filed an Amended Petition of Modification, claiming cohabitation by Kim Black (R. 328-338), which Amended Petition was opposed and requested to be stricken, which was denied by the trial court (R. 358-360 & 533). After trial in this matter, the court determined that Kim Black had in fact cohabitated and terminated the alimony (R. 748). The court held that the alimony should be modified retroactively, and used the date of the original service of the Petition for Modification, June 2001, rather than either the date of the Amended Petition, June

2005 (when the cohabitation claim was added), (R. 748), or the date of establishing the cohabitation, which would have been the date of the order terminating alimony, November 30, 2007 (R. 749).

In *Wilde v. Wilde*, 2001 UT App 318, ¶ 19-20, 35 P.3d 341, the court held that Utah Code section 78-45-9.3(4) gave the court discretion to modify a spousal support payment under a child support order retroactively. The court in *Wilde* also noted that courts have broad discretion to retroactively modify alimony awards:

“[t]he only substantive limitation on that discretion was that the modification could run only from the date of notice of the petition.” *Id.* (citing *Ball v. Peterson*, 912 P.2d 1006, 1012 (Utah Ct. App. 1996); *Crockett v. Crockett*, 836 P.2d 818, 820 (Utah Ct. App. 1992)).

A. It was Inappropriate for Respondent to add a Cohabitation Claim to the Existing Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce

A petition to modify spousal support under Utah Code section 78-45-9.3(4) and a petition to terminate alimony under section 30-3-5(10) are distinct and separate statutes with different requires and purposes, and it is inappropriate to add a petition to terminate alimony to an existing petition to modify spousal support. First, to show that a modification of spousal support is in order, the claimant must prove entirely different facts from those required to prove cohabitation. To prevail on a petition to modify an order of spousal support, the claimant must meet the threshold requirement of proving that there has been a “substantial change in circumstances” which was not contemplated by the divorce decree. *Wall*, 2007

UT App 61, ¶ 11 To prevail on a petition to terminate alimony based on Utah Code section 30-3-5(10), the claimant must prove the elements of cohabitation (1) common residency and (2) sexual contact evidencing a conjugal association ” *Garcia v Garcia*, 2002 UT App 381, ¶ 5, 60 P 3d 1174 (quoting *Pendleton v Pendleton*, 918 P 2d 159, 160 n 1) Second, and more importantly, the remedies are distinct under the two claims If the court determines there has been a substantial change in circumstances, the court may *modify* the divorce decree under Utah Code section 30-3-5(3) If the court determines that the alimony recipient has been cohabitating with another, alimony is *terminated* 30-3-5(10)

In adding the June 2005 claim (cohabitation terminates alimony) to the June 2001 Petition to Modify Divorce Decree, Respondent attempts to make an end run around the plain language of section 30-3-5(10) which requires termination, and not modification Significantly, although there is a statute, (§ 78-45-9 3(4)), and case law that supports retroactive *modification* of alimony awards, *Wilde*, 2001 UT App 318, ¶ 19-20, Respondent, in his motion to the lower court, had not cited any prior law that provides for the retroactive termination or modification of alimony awards based on cohabitation Respondent’s attempt to piggyback his claim to terminate based on cohabitation on top of a petition to modify a spousal support order is clearly for the purpose of retroactively terminating alimony, and the plain language of section 30-3-5(10) does not permit that result

B. Retroactively Modifying the Alimony Order Back to the Date of the 2001 Petition to Modify the Divorce Decree Undercuts the Rationale for Requiring that a Modification Can Only Relate Back to the Date that Service of the Pleading was Given to the Obligee.

Former Utah Code section 78-45-9.3(4) (West 2004) (now renumbered and amended at 78B-12-112 (2008)) provided, “[a] child or spousal support payment under a child support order may be modified with respect to any period during which a modification is pending, but only from the date of service of the pleading on the obligee” The rationale for the limit on retroactive modification to the date the obligee receives notice is apparently to let the obligee know that the order may be modified, and that some portion of the money may have to be returned.

Jon Black’s 2001 Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce gave notice to Kim Black that alimony payments might be *modified*, based on the claims in that Petition. (R. 76-80.) In June of 2005, when the cohabitation claim was added, Kim Black was on notice that alimony payments could be *terminated* “upon establishment” of cohabitation. § 30-5-10(3). The 2001 notice of the petition to modify the divorce decree did not provide adequate notice of the 2005 claim that alimony should be terminated based on cohabitation. Therefore, if retroactive modification based on cohabitation is allowed, it should relate back to the time that notice of the cohabitation claim was given, and should not relate back to the 2001 petition. It is important to note that the court’s decision to retroactively modify alimony was based exclusively on the 2005 cohabitation claim, and the

court did not cite any of the allegations in the 2001 petition as bases for its decision (R. 748).

CONCLUSION

The plain language of Utah Code Section 30-3-5(10) provides for the termination of alimony upon the establishment of cohabitation, and does not allow for modification, retroactive or otherwise. Petitioner asks this court to hold that the termination of alimony should commence upon establishment of cohabitation, November 30, 2007, which was the date of the order terminating alimony, and should not be applied retroactively (R. 748-749). If this Court holds that retroactive modification based on cohabitation is consistent with section 30-3-5(10), retroactive modification should relate back to June 2005, when the cohabitation claim was made, and should not relate back to June 2001, when the Petition to Modify the Decree of Divorce was made.