2007

## Kim S. Black v. Jon Cornell Black : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS**

The trial court erred when it held that the alimony award should be terminated retroactively to the date of notice of service of the Verified Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce. Based on (1) case law; (2) the language and intent of U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10) and U.C.A. § 78-45-9.3(4); and (3) principles of equity, the trial court should have terminated the alimony award retroactively to the date that the Respondent began cohabitating.

The trial court should have followed the precedent set by the Court of Appeals in *Sigg v. Sigg*, where the Court terminated the alimony award retroactively to the date that cohabitation began, which was before the date that the Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce had been filed. 905 P.2d 908, 911-912, (Utah App. 1995).

The trial court erred when it applied U.C.A. § 78-45-9.3(4) to the retroactive termination of the alimony award in the manner in which it did. This statute reads in pertinent part that “A child or spousal support payment under a child support order may be modified with respect to any period during which a modification is pending, but only from the date of service of the pleading on the obligee”. U.C.A § 30-3-5(10) reads in pertinent part that “Any order of the court that a party pay alimony to a former spouse terminates upon establishment by the party paying alimony that the former spouse is cohabitating with another person”, meaning that when alimony is terminated because of cohabitation, the alimony should be terminated retroactively to the date when cohabitation began. U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10) should control in this situation because it deals more specifically with the matter at hand.

Principles of equity require that U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10) be construed to mean that cohabitation-related termination of alimony should be retroactive to the date that the cohabitation began, not to the date that the party paying alimony demonstrates that cohabitation is indeed taking place. If courts were to choose the latter construction of the statute, receivers of alimony would be rewarded for concealing their cohabitation from the parties paying alimony. This would not only reward people for actions akin to theft, but it would also encourage behavior that the drafters of the statute in no way desired.

### **ARGUMENTS**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT HELD THAT RESPONDENT'S ALIMONY OBLIGATION SHOULD ONLY BE TERMINATED RETROACTIVELY BACK TO THE DATE THAT PETITIONER RECEIVED NOTICE OF RESPONDENT'S PETITION TO MODIFY THE DIVORCE DECREE**

##### ***A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT FOLLOWING THE PRECEDENT SET BY THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR RETROACTIVE TERMINATION OF ALIMONY IN THE CASE OF COHABITATION.***

In its holding, the trial court stated that the rule regarding retroactive modification of alimony awards only allows modification to be tied to the date that the petition for modification is filed (R. 748). Thus, the trial court retroactively terminated Petitioner's alimony award back to June of 2001 when Respondent first filed his petition for modification (R. 748). The trial court was correct in holding that an alimony award could be terminated retroactively, but erred in holding that the award could only be terminated retroactively to the date that notice was given that a petition for modification was filed.

The trial court failed to follow the precedent set in *Sigg v. Sigg*, where the Court of Appeals dealt with a nearly identical situation. 905 P.2d 908 (Utah App. 1995). In that case, the Court of Appeals held that where the party receiving alimony had cohabitated, the alimony award should be terminated retroactively to the date that cohabitation began, which, in that case, was prior to the date that the party paying alimony had filed the petition for modification. *Id.* at 911. A timeline of events will illustrate this point more effectively: In *Sigg*, Mr. and Ms. Sigg were divorced in 1990. Mr. Sigg was required to pay alimony in the amount of \$500 a month. In February of 1993, Ms. Sigg began cohabitating with another man. Nine months later, in November of 1993, Mr. Sigg filed a petition to modify the divorce decree. In June of 1994, the case went to trial, where the trial court held that alimony should be retroactively terminated back to February of 1993, when Ms. Sigg began cohabitating. *Id.* at 911-912. Ms. Sigg appealed the trial court's decision, but the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's ruling that alimony should be retroactively terminated to February of 1993, when the cohabitation began. *Id.* at 912. Although only nine months passed between the date that Ms. Sigg began cohabitating (February 1993) and the date that Mr. Sigg filed his petition for modification of the divorce decree (November 1993), the Court of Appeals saw fit to terminate alimony retroactively to the date that cohabitation began. *Id.* at 918.

The facts in the present case are almost identical to *Sigg*. Petitioner was awarded and received alimony, but then began cohabitating in September of 2000 (R. 744, 748). Petitioner failed to notify the Respondent that she was cohabitating and continued to receive alimony. Nine months later, in June of 2001, Respondent filed to terminate

alimony (R. 748). When the matter went to trial in 2007, the trial court held that retroactive termination of the alimony award was proper, but only to the date that notice was given that the June 2001 petition was filed (R. 748). The trial court failed to follow the precedent set by *Sigg*, which clearly held that when an alimony award is terminated because of cohabitation, the award should be terminated retroactively to the date that cohabitation began, and not to the date that the notice was given that the petition to modify the divorce decree was filed. *Id.* at 918. The trial court's holding was clearly erroneous and should be corrected to hold, in accordance with the *Sigg* precedent, that when an alimony award is terminated because of cohabitation, the award should be terminated retroactively to the date that Petitioner began cohabitating, and not to the date that Respondent filed his petition for modification of the divorce decree. *Sigg* was ruled on in 1995 and has not been overruled. It should not be overruled now.

***B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY APPLYING U.C.A. § 78-45-9.3(4) WHEN IT SHOULD HAVE APPLIED U.C.A. 30-3-5(10) TO THE RETROACTIVE TERMINATION OF ALIMONY IN THE CASE OF COHABITATION***

The trial court dealt with two different statutes that pertain to retroactive modification/termination of an alimony award: U.C.A. § 78-45-9.3(4) (now renumbered and amended at 78B-12-112 (2008)), which reads in pertinent part “A child or spousal support payment under a child support order may be modified with respect to any period during which a modification is pending, but only from the date of service of the pleading on the obligee”; and U.C.A. 30-3-5(10), which reads in pertinent part that “Any order of the court that a party pay alimony to a former spouse terminates upon establishment by

the party paying alimony that the former spouse is cohabitating with another person”.

The trial court held that “The general rule is that the date of the modification of support or alimony is tied to the date that the petition for modification is filed”, and accordingly terminated the alimony award retroactively to the date that Petitioner received notice that Respondent filed his petition to modify the divorce decree. This was an incorrect application of the language and intent of the two statutes. U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10) should control because it deals with the specific matter of termination of alimony due to cohabitation, whereas U.C.A. § 78-45-9.3(4) is the more general statute that deals with retroactive modification of alimony in general.

U.C.A. § 78-45-9.3(4) deals with retroactive modification of alimony in general cases where alimony is modified for various reasons, but mainly dealing with change in material circumstances. The statute only allows alimony to be modified retroactively to the date that the petition for modification is filed. The purpose of the statute is to ensure that a party receiving alimony is put on notice that the alimony award is being challenged, and that the alimony award may be terminated retroactively to the date that the petition was filed. This is good policy because it gives the party receiving alimony the opportunity to prepare for the eventuality that alimony may be terminated, and it protects that party from being required to pay back large amounts of past alimony unexpectedly. This policy is also sound because courts do not wish to harm an innocent party receiving alimony that has done no wrong, but has simply experienced a change in material circumstances. It would be inequitable for a party receiving alimony to suddenly

be required to restore several years worth of alimony payments simply because the party receiving alimony had experienced a material change in circumstances much earlier.

U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10), however, deals with a different matter. This statute deals with parties receiving alimony who cohabit and should not be receiving alimony. In *Knuteson v. Knuteson*, the court explained that this statute “is designed to prevent unconscionable servitude to an undeserving divorced spouse”, and that it “should be directed, to prevent injustice to a spouse who frequently pays through the nose, so to speak, to an undeserving ex-mate”. 619 P.2d 1387, 1389 (Utah 1980). A cohabitating ex-spouse does not deserve the notice that filing a petition for modification of a divorced decree gives. A cohabitating ex-spouse puts one’s self on notice that alimony may, and should, be terminated upon commencement of cohabitation. This statute is the controlling statute because it deals with the specific matter in this case of retroactive termination of alimony due to cohabitation.

The trial court incorrectly applied U.C.A. § 78-45-9.3(4) when it should have applied U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10). U.C.A. § 78-45-9.3(4) protects innocent parties receiving alimony who have done no wrong, whereas U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10) protects innocent parties paying alimony who have done no wrong, save failing to discover that their ex-spouses are cohabitating. A comparison of two cases will illustrate how the two statutes should be correctly applied. *Ball v. Peterson* held that modification of a support agreement may only be applied retroactively back to the date that the party receiving support received notice that a petition had been filed to modify the support award. 912 P.2d 1006, 1011 (Utah App. 1996). *Sigg v. Sigg*, however (as explained earlier), held that where the



spouse receiving alimony had cohabitated, the alimony award should be terminated retroactively to the date that cohabitation began, which was nine months earlier than the date on which the party receiving alimony received notice that a petition had been filed to amend the alimony award. 905 P.2d 908, 918 (Utah App. 1995). *Ball* and *Sigg* do not contradict each other. *Ball* applies the general rule of U.C.A. § 78-45-9.3(4), and *Sigg* applies the specific rule of U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10). Because the present case is almost identical to *Sigg*, the *Sigg* precedent should apply and not the *Ball* precedent.

Regarding U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10), however, the Respondent has argued that this statute does not subject an alimony order to retroactive termination; rather, the Petitioner has argued that this statute should only be construed to terminate an alimony award at the date on which the Respondent *proved* that the Petitioner was cohabitating and not at the date that the Petitioner *actually began* cohabitating. Such an interpretation violates both the *Sigg* precedent and policy considerations, which will be elaborated upon in the next section. In short, such an interpretation would encourage ex-spouses receiving alimony to conceal cohabitation as long as possible, without risking retroactive termination. Surely the drafters of the statute did not intend to encourage such behavior.

It is also important to note that these arguments do not intend to show that retroactive modification of an alimony award is mandatory, for it is not. The court held in *Wall v. Wall* that “The legislature's use of “may” clearly gives the court discretion to make child support modification orders retroactive”, meaning that a court may modify a support order retroactively, but it is not mandatory. UT App 61, ¶ 20, 157 P.3d 341. In the present case, the trial court correctly used its discretion to terminate alimony

retroactively. The trial court only erred in holding that the termination could only be applied retroactively to the date that notice was given of the petition to modify the divorce decree.

***C. PRINCIPLES OF EQUITY REQUIRE THAT U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10) BE CONSTRUED TO HOLD THAT COHABITATION-RELATED TERMINATION OF ALIMONY APPLY RETROACTIVELY TO THE DATE THAT COHABITATION BEGINS AND NOT TO THE DATE WHEN THE PARTY PAYING ALIMONY PROVES THAT COHABITATION IS INDEED TAKING PLACE***

Thus far, three separate dates have been suggested as the proper dates to which alimony should be retroactively terminated: (1) September of 2000, when the Petitioner began cohabitating – under the *Sigg* precedent and U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10); (2) June of 2001, when the Petitioner received notice that the Respondent had filed a petition to modify the alimony award – under U.C.A. § 78-45-9.3(4); and (3) November of 2007, when the Respondent demonstrated at trial that the Petitioner had been cohabitating – under the Petitioner’s interpretation of U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10). Of these three possible dates, September of 2000 is most in line with case law, statutory interpretation, and principles of equity.

Under U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10), it would be unjust and inequitable to hold that the Respondent could only receive retroactive termination of alimony back to the date on which he had demonstrated cohabitation, which was at trial in November of 2007. Such an interpretation would clearly violate policy considerations and principles of equity. A hypothetical scenario will help to illustrate this point: A and B stay married for 20 years, then get divorced. Under the alimony award, B must pay alimony to A for the next 20 years. B faithfully pays alimony every month as required. However, six months later, A

begins cohabitating with C. A conceals her cohabitation from B for the next ten years, while B continues to pay alimony every month. Ten and half years after the divorce, B discovers A's cohabitation and files a petition to terminate alimony. A, relying on the Petitioner's interpretation of U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10), then drags out the proceedings for as long as possible before the case finally goes to trial 12 years after the divorce. At trial, the court finds that A did indeed cohabit with C and that the cohabitation began six months after the divorce.

Under the Petitioner's interpretation of U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10), alimony would only be terminated at trial, 12 years after the divorce. Thus, A would be rewarded for concealing her cohabitation from B, as well as for dragging out the proceedings as long as possible in an effort to collect every month's worth of alimony possible. Under the trial court's interpretation of U.C.A. 78-45-9.3(4), alimony would be retroactively terminated back to the date on which A received notice that B had filed a petition to terminate that alimony award. This is a better situation, but it is still inequitable. A has not been rewarded for dragging out the proceedings, but A has been rewarded for concealing her cohabitation from B for ten years. Under both of these possible outcomes, A has been rewarded for behavior that is hardly different than theft.

In this case, the Petitioner has argued that retroactively terminating an alimony award is a harsh consequence. The Petitioner, however, should not receive any sympathy for her actions. In our society, we do not consider it harsh to require thieves to return stolen goods. The present case is hardly a different scenario. The Petitioner began cohabitating in September of 2000 (R. 748) and continued to accept alimony payments

from her disabled ex-husband whose entire income consisted of government assistance (due to his disability) and who barely had enough money to subsist at an assisted living facility (R. 329-330). Even after being confronted by Tomlin's sister about her actions, the Petitioner continued to receive alimony payments (R. 746-747). After receiving notice that the Respondent had filed a petition to modify the alimony award, the Petitioner dragged out the proceedings by refusing to comply with discovery requests, so much that the Respondent was forced to submit an Order to Show Cause for failure to comply with discovery. When the case finally went to trial in 2007, the Petitioner attempted to conceal her cohabitation from the Respondent and from the trial court, even testifying during trial that she had not had sexual relations with Tomlin (745-747). (The trial court pointedly noted that it found that the Petitioner's testimony was not credible (R. 747)).

The Respondent is the party who has received harsh treatment, so it is disingenuous to argue that the Petitioner would be treated harshly if the alimony were to be terminated retroactively back to the date that she began cohabitating. If the trial court's decision is left as it is, then future attorneys will be encouraged to counsel their cohabitating clients to conceal their cohabitation for as long as possible in order to receive as much alimony as possible. Surely the drafters of U.C.A. § 30-3-5(10) did not intend to encourage such unethical behavior. The only equitable possibility is to terminate alimony retroactively back to the date that the Petitioner began cohabitating in accordance with *Sigg* and principles of equity.